RECEIVED

Aug 17 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Florence County

Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CARLTON DEVONTE BROWN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000149

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JESSICA M. SAXON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in denying the motion to suppress the methamphetamine that was found during an unlawful search?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the November 2021 term of the Florence County grand jury, Appellant was indicted for trafficking methamphetamine less than 100 grams, possession with intent to distribute marijuana, and two counts of possession of a handgun by one convicted of a crime of violence. Approximately six months before trial, in July 2024, Appellant was directly indicted for one count of pointing and presenting a firearm. R. 412-425. The state, represented by Jeremiah Freeman, called the case to trial on January 13, 2025, before the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., and a jury. Appellant was represented by William "Josh" Edgeworth. R. 1. On January 15, 2025, the jury acquitted Appellant of the pointing and presenting charge and found him guilty as charged on the weapons and drug charges. Judge Seals sentenced Appellant to fifteen years on the trafficking charge and five years each on the other charges, all sentences to run concurrently. R. 396, ll. 4-8.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). On appeal from a suppression hearing, appellate courts are bound by the circuit court's factual findings if any evidence supports the findings. State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000). “[W]hile the need for deference remains, particularly in determining issues of credibility, it is no longer necessary for us to defer to the trial court's overall ruling in every case.” State v. Frasier, 437 S.C. 625, 632-34, 879 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2022). Hence, “appellate review of a motion to suppress based on the Fourth Amendment involves a two-step analysis. This dual inquiry means we review the trial court's factual findings for any evidentiary support, but the ultimate legal conclusion ... is a question of law subject to de novo review.” Id.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying the motion to suppress the methamphetamine that was found during an unlawful search.

Relevant Facts

On June 29, 2021, Laquonda Green called 9-1-1 to request the police because an individual “had a gun and was trying to fight.” She identified the person as Carlton Brown (Appellant), informed 9-1-1 that he was driving a silver Equinox, and stated that “the car was full of drugs.” R. 54, ll. 1-5; State’s Exhibit 2 – 911 call (on file with this Court). Officers did not immediately locate the vehicle and issued a BOLO (be on the lookout) for a silver Equinox with out-of-state tags. The BOLO included information that the suspect was likely armed and that narcotics were possibly in the car. Warrants were taken out on Appellant for domestic violence and pointing and presenting a firearm. Two officers were working the evening shift on June 29, 2021 – John Stewart¹ and Dedrick Graham. Stewart spotted the suspect vehicle while patrolling, confirmed Graham was close by to assist him, and initiated a felony stop on the vehicle.

Appellant was compliant and followed the commands of Stewart. When questioned if he was armed, Appellant stated there was a weapon in the vehicle. Once Appellant was secured, Dedrick located two firearms and a bag containing marijuana in the back floorboard in plain view. Dedrick left the scene to transport Appellant to jail approximately fifteen-to-twenty minutes after the initial stop. Approximately thirty-eight minutes after the initial stop, and close to twenty minutes after Appellant had been removed from the scene, Stewart is seen on his body worn camera taking a small black plastic bag from the eyeglass holder in the car and opening it to reveal multiple multi-colored pills. State’s Ex. 1 – Stewart BWC (on file with this Court).

¹ Stewart lost his life in the line of duty a few weeks after Appellant’s arrest. R. 199, ll. 20-25.

Subsequent testing revealed the pills were methamphetamine weighing 30.73 grams. R. 264, ll. 15-20.

Prior to trial, counsel Edgeworth moved to suppress the methamphetamine. R. 32, ll. 7-13. The state called Graham, who testified that Appellant was stopped because he had warrants and to identify whether he was armed. He conceded that Appellant immediately informed officers there was a weapon in the car. He further conceded that Appellant was quickly secured in handcuffs and moved away from the car, ending any potential threat to officer safety. Graham was not on scene when Stewart located the methamphetamine and testified that they did not have prior knowledge that there were potential drugs in the car. Graham stated that standard protocol – to search a car incident to arrest and get it towed after inventory – was followed in the case. R. 22, ll. 11 – 31, l. 20.

Counsel Edgeworth argued that the purpose of the stop was to serve warrants and secure any firearms Appellant may have had. Once they had secured Appellant and secured the weapons, “there was no rational, reasonable, or probable cause basis to be on the lookout for any other drug that was not in plain view.” R. 33, ll. 4-6. He compared the stop to a Rodriguez stop, arguing there was no reason to continue searching the car on the side of the road once Appellant and the weapons were secured, as there was no longer a threat. He maintained the search was not an inventory search, nor was it a search incident to arrest, but it was an illegal search under both the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution, requiring suppression of the methamphetamine. R. 33, l. 7 – 34, l. 8. The state argued the search was a search incident to arrest, an automobile exception search, and an inventory search. The state further argued that the marijuana being in plain view expanded the scope of the probable cause to search the car. R. 34, l. 11 – 35, l. 20.

The trial judge initially suppressed the methamphetamine. R. 35, ll. 21-22. The parties recessed for lunch, and when they returned, the state asked for clarification on the judge's decision to suppress the pills. The trial judge reversed course, determining that the pills were seized pursuant to an inventory search and therefore proper. R. 38, l. 21 – 39, l. 25.

At trial, Dedrick testified repeatedly that Stewart was not conducting an inventory of the vehicle, but instead was conducting a search incident to arrest which allows officers “to search their immediate area for anything contraband or anything like that.” R. 187, ll. 1-17; 189, ll. 9-25; 191, l. 23 – 193, l. 25. He clarified that an inventory search required filling out the tow form and documenting any non-contraband items in the car, which was not done in the case. R. 187, l. 20 – 188, l. 4; 192, ll. 3-12. He testified he was “clearing up” the confusion from the pre-trial hearing, wherein the state had claimed the search was an inventory search. He maintained it was a search incident to arrest, even though Appellant had been arrested and removed from the scene at the time of the search. He further admitted that the officers could have obtained a warrant. R. 193, ll. 1-4. The state introduced the drugs into evidence through the chemist, Mitchell Hansen. At the time the BEST kit containing the drugs was moved into evidence, counsel Edgeworth did not object. R. 261, ll. 17-25.

After the state rested, counsel Edgeworth renewed his motion to suppress the methamphetamine, arguing that the testimony revealed it was not an inventory search and that because Appellant had been removed from the scene by the time of the search, that it was not a search incident to arrest. R. 288, l. 1 – 291, l. 22; 292, l. 25 – 294, l. 1. The court denied the renewed motion to suppress. R. 299, ll. 16-20.

Discussion

“The security and protection of persons and property provided by the Fourth Amendment are fundamental values.” State v. Gamble, 405 S.C. 409, 420, 747 S.E.2d 784, 789 (2013) (*citing Alderman v. United States*, 394 U.S. 165, 175, 89 S.Ct. 961, 22 L.Ed.2d 176 (1969)). “No right is held more sacred, or is more carefully guarded by the common law, than the right of every individual to the possession and control of his own person, free from all restraint or interference of others, unless by clear and unquestionable authority of law.” State v. Woodruff, 344 S.C. 537, 544, 544 S.E.2d 290, 294 (Ct. App. 2001) (*citing Union Pacific Ry. Co. v. Botsford*, 141 U.S. 250, 251, 11 S.Ct. 1000, 1001, 35 L.Ed. 734, 737 (1891)). The basic purpose of the Fourth Amendment, as recognized repeatedly by the United States Supreme Court, is “to safeguard the privacy and security of individuals against arbitrary invasions by government officials.” Cady v. Dombrowski, 413 U.S. 433, 453 (1973) (Brennan, J. dissenting).

Through its exclusionary rule, the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. Amend. IV. “The manner in which the seizure and search were conducted is, of course, as vital a part of the inquiry as whether they were warranted at all. The Fourth Amendment proceeds as much by limitations upon the scope of governmental action as by imposing preconditions upon its initiation.” Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 28–29, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 1883–84, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968). “The entire deterrent purpose of the rule excluding evidence seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment rests on the assumption that ‘limitations upon the fruit to be gathered tend to limit the quest itself.’” Id. (*citing United States v. Poller*, 43 F.2d 911, 914, 74 A.L.R. 1382 (C.A.2d Cir. 1930)). “Thus, evidence may not be introduced if it was discovered by means of a seizure and search which were not reasonably related in scope to the justification for their initiation” Id. 392 U.S. at 29, 88 S. Ct. at 1884, 20 L.Ed.2d at

889 (*citing* Warden v. Hayden, 387 U.S. 294, 310, 87 S.Ct. 1642, 1652, 18 L.Ed.2d 782 (1967)). Similarly, the South Carolina Constitution provides protection against unlawful searches and seizures. S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. In fact, the South Carolina Constitution contains an express right to privacy provision that favors an interpretation *offering a higher level of privacy protection* than the Fourth Amendment. See State v. Key, 431 S.C. 336, 848, S.E.2d 315 (2020) (emphasis added).

When evaluating a search through the framework of the Fourth Amendment, “[t]he ultimate standard set forth...is reasonableness.” Dombrowski at 439. “Whether a search and seizure is unreasonable within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment depends upon the facts and circumstances of each case.” S. Dakota v. Opperman, 428 U.S. 364, 375 (1976). Evidence seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment will be excluded in both state and federal court. See Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643 (1961); State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001).

“Generally, a warrantless search is per se unreasonable and thus violative of the Fourth Amendment’s prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures.” State v. Bultron, 318 S.C. 323, 331, 457 S.E.2d 616, 621 (Ct. App. 1995). “However, a warrantless search will withstand constitutional scrutiny where the search falls within one of a few specifically established and well delineated exceptions to the Fourth Amendment exclusionary rule.” Id. at 331-32, 457 S.E.2d at 621. In such cases, the *burden is upon the State to justify a warrantless search*. State v. Bailey, 276 S.C. 32, 35, 274 S.E.2d 913, 915 (1981) (emphasis added).

One of the exceptions to the warrant rule is an inventory search conducted according to standard police procedures. Robinson v. State, 407 S.C. 169, 185, 754 S.E.2d 862, 870 (2014)

(stating “if police officers are following their standard procedures, they may inventory impounded property without obtaining a warrant” (*citing Colorado v. Bertine*, 479 U.S. 367, 374 (1987))). However, “[a]n inventory search will not be sustained where the court believed that the officers were searching for incriminating evidence of other offenses.” *U.S. v. Feldman*, 788 F.2d 544, 553 (9th Cir. 1986) *citing Opperman*, 428 U.S. at 376. In analyzing inventory searches the United States Supreme Court has explained,

[A]n inventory search must not be a ruse for a general rummaging in order to discover incriminating evidence. The policy or practice governing inventory searches *should be designed to produce an inventory*. The individual police officer must not be allowed so much latitude that inventory searches are turned into a ‘purposeful and general means of discovering evidence of a crime.’

Florida v. Wells, 495 U.S. 1, 4 (1990) (emphasis added). The California Court of Appeals for the Fourth District further elaborated on the principle outlined in *Wells, supra*, stating,

Just as inventory searches are exceptions to the probable cause requirement, they are also exceptions to the usual rule that the police officer’s [s]ubjective intentions play no role in ordinary, probable-cause Fourth Amendment analysis...courts will explore police officers subjective motivations for impounding vehicles in inventory search cases, even when some objectively reasonable basis exists for the impounding.

People v. Torres, 188 Cal. App. 4th. 775, 787-788, Cal. Rptr. 3d 48 (4th Dist. 2010), as modified on denial of reh’g, (Oct. 21, 2010).

Another exception to the warrant requirement is a search incident to arrest. This “exception derives from interests in officer safety and evidence preservation that are typically implicated in arrest situations.” *Arizona v. Gant*, 556 U.S. 332, 338 (2009). The United States Supreme Court has held that police may search incident to arrest only the space within an arrestee’s “immediate control,” meaning “the area from within which he might gain possession of a weapon or destructible evidence.” *Chimel v. California*, 395 U.S. 752, 763 (1969). “That limitation, which continues to

define the boundaries of the exception, ensures that the scope of a search incident to arrest is commensurate with its purposes of protecting arresting officers and safeguarding any evidence of the offense of arrest that an arrestee might conceal or destroy.” Gant, 556 U.S. at 339. “If there is no possibility that an arrestee could reach into the area that law enforcement officers seek to search, both justifications for the search-incident-to-arrest exception are absent and the rule does not apply.” Id. While “the *Chimel* rationale authorizes police to search a vehicle incident to a recent occupant's arrest only when the arrestee is unsecured and within reaching distance of the passenger compartment at the time of the search,” the Supreme Court has also concluded “that circumstances unique to the vehicle context justify a search incident to a lawful arrest when it is reasonable to believe evidence relevant to the crime of arrest might be found in the vehicle.” Gant, 556 U.S. at 343.

The testimony of Dedrick made clear that the search of Appellant’s car was not performed pursuant to an inventory procedure. Not only did he deny that an inventory was performed, but the record contains no evidence of the inventory procedure or an actual inventory being produced. The subjective intentions of the officer were not to produce an inventory of the non-contraband items in the car but to search for further evidence of a crime. The search was not designed to be and did not produce an inventory, and it was not done according to standard procedures. It was error for the court to allow the methamphetamine into evidence under this exception.

Although Dedrick repeatedly testified that the search was incident to arrest, the record reveals that Appellant was long removed from the scene before the search began, and he had been gone close to twenty minutes when the methamphetamine was discovered. Appellant had no ability to reach into the area officers wanted to search because he had been removed from his vehicle and handcuffed almost immediately due to the felony nature of the stop. He was then fully removed