RECEIVED

Jul 27 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Florence County
Honorable William H. Seals, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2025-000149

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

CARLTON DEVONTE BROWN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

E. L. CLEMENTS, III
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit

180 North Irby Street
MSC-Q
Florence, SC 29501
(843) 665-3091

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge properly declined to suppress the methamphetamine discovered through the warrantless search of the rental vehicle because, at the time of that search, the officer possessed a probable cause basis to believe the vehicle contained drugs and other contraband and, therefore, he was constitutionally permitted to search anywhere in the vehicle that could potentially contain the object of his search—more drugs—pursuant to the automobile exception without needing to first obtain a search warrant.

Appellant contends the trial judge reversibly erred by denying the motion to suppress the methamphetamine found hidden inside the rental vehicle. As support for that contention, Appellant—while tellingly steering clear of the automobile exception—maintains “[t]here was no justification for the warrantless search of Appellant’s car under either the inventory search or search incident to arrest exceptions.” Importantly though, prior to the search of the rental vehicle that led to the discovery of Appellant’s hidden stash of methamphetamine pills, Lieutenant Stewart had a probable cause basis to believe there was a fair probability the rental vehicle contained drugs. As a result, the officer could properly and permissibly search anywhere in the rental vehicle that could potentially contained concealed drugs pursuant to automobile exception without violating Appellant’s federal or state constitutional rights. Therefore, the search that led to the discovery of the methamphetamine was not unconstitutional in any way, and the trial judge was correct when he declined to suppress that evidence. Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.¹¹

¹¹ Notably, as previously explained, defense counsel—despite making an in limine motion seeking the suppression of the methamphetamine prior to the evidentiary phase of Appellant’s trial getting underway—affirmatively indicated to the trial judge he had “[n]o objection” to that evidence’s admission when the solicitor actually sought to introduce it during trial. (R. pp. 261-262). Thus, despite the earlier objection raised, the trial judge ultimately admitted that evidence “without objection.” (R. pp. 261-262). Under such circumstances, defense counsel’s earlier objection was *abandoned* instead of simply not renewed, and any issue concerning the admission of Appellant’s methamphetamine was not properly preserved for appellate review since that evidence was expressly admitted without objection during trial. See Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) (“When a party states to the trial court that it

Both the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution provide protections to our citizens against unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV (“The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated[.]”); S.C. Const. art. I, § 10 (“The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures and unreasonable invasions of privacy shall not be violated[.]”). Furthermore, primarily to guard against invasive technological advancements, the South Carolina Constitution also expressly protects our citizens from “unreasonable invasions of privacy.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 10; see State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 647, 541 S.E.2d 837, 842 (2001) (“[T]he drafters of our state constitution’s right to privacy provision were principally concerned with the emergence of new electronic technologies that increased the government’s ability to conduct searches.”).

Through the additional provision regarding invasions of privacy, “the people of South Carolina have indicated that searches and seizures that do not offend the federal Constitution may still offend the South Carolina Constitution.” State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 322, 649

has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review.”); see also State v. Jones, 435 S.C. 138, 144, 866 S.E.2d 558, 561 (2021) (“[A] different approach is warranted where a court rules after a[n in limine] hearing on a constitutional issue. Under those circumstances, the ruling is final and, unless something changes during trial that may reasonably cause the trial judge to alter the pretrial ruling, no further objection is required to preserve the issue for appellate review.”); cf. State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) (“Dicapua’s sole objection to the videotape came in the form of a motion in limine to suppress the videotape because of its lack of audio. Once the State moved to enter the videotape into evidence and publish it to the jury, however, Dicapua’s counsel specifically stated he had ‘no objection.’ We find this amounted to a waiver of any issue Dicapua had with the videotape.”). Therefore, notwithstanding the merit-based problems with Appellant’s arguments on appeal, the issue Appellant is attempting to now raise can and should be rejected as procedurally barred. See Rule 220(c), SCACR (“The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.”).

S.E.2d 479, 483 (2007). Thus, “the South Carolina Constitution favors an interpretation offering a higher level of privacy protection than the Fourth Amendment.” Id. However, the South Carolina Constitution by its express language only forbids searches, seizures, and invasions of privacy that are *unreasonable*. S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. As a result, *only* unreasonable searches, seizures, and invasions of privacy are impermissible in our state. See State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977) (“It is only unreasonable searches and seizures that are prohibited.”); see also Heien v. North Carolina, 574 U.S. 54, 60 (2014) (“To be reasonable is not to be perfect[.]”); Illinois v. Rodriguez, 497 U.S. 177, 185 (1990) (“It is apparent that in order to satisfy the ‘reasonableness’ requirement of the Fourth Amendment, what is generally demanded of the many factual determinations that must regularly be made by agents of the government . . . is not that they always be correct, but that they always be reasonable.”).

Generally speaking, warrantless searches are considered to be unreasonable per se unless they fall under an exception to the warrant requirement, and any evidence seized as the result of an unreasonable search typically must be excluded from trial. Weaver, 374 S.C. at 319, 649 S.E.2d at 482; see State v. Peters, 271 S.C. 498, 501, 248 S.E.2d 475, 476 (1978) (instructing searches conducted without a warrant are per se unreasonable unless an exception to the warrant requirement is applicable). However, “warrantless searches are allowed when the circumstances make it reasonable . . . to dispense with the warrant requirement.” Kentucky v. King, 563 U.S. 452, 462 (2011). Regarding the situations where a warrantless search is considered to be constitutionally reasonable, South Carolina courts have recognized several exceptions to the warrant requirement, including: (1) the search incident to lawful arrest exception; (2) the hot pursuit exception; (3) the stop and frisk exception; (4) the automobile exception; (5) the plain view exception; (6) the consent exception; (7) the abandonment exception; (8) the exigent

circumstances exception; and (9) the inventory search exception. State v. Miller, 423 S.C. 95, 100, 814 S.E.2d 166, 169 (2018); State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 89, 736 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2012); State v. Herring, 387 S.C. 201, 209, 692 S.E.2d 490, 494 (2009); see State v. Lemacks, 275 S.C. 181, 183-184, 268 S.E.2d 285, 286 (1980) (rejecting a constitutional challenge to a routine inventory search of a vehicle that was raised pursuant to both the federal constitution and the state constitution).

Of those exceptions, the automobile exception, which is based on the ready mobility of automobiles coupled with the lessened expectation of privacy in such vehicles, is a particularly long-recognized and well-established one. State v. Bailey, 276 S.C. 32, 36, 274 S.E.2d 913, 915 (1981); State v. Pope, 410 S.C. 214, 225, 763 S.E.2d 814, 820 (Ct. App. 2014); see California v. Carney, 471 U.S. 386, 390-392 (1985) (discussing the lengthy history of the automobile exception); Carroll v. United States, 267 U.S. 132, 149 (1925) (recognizing more than a century ago a warrantless search of a vehicle is constitutionally proper if supported by a probable cause basis to believe the vehicle contains contraband); State v. Cox, 290 S.C. 489, 491, 351 S.E.2d 570, 571 (1986) (“The two bases for the exception are: (1) the ready mobility of automobiles and the potential that evidence may be lost before a warrant is obtained; and (2) the lessened expectation of privacy in motor vehicles which are subject to governmental regulation.”). Pursuant to it, law enforcement officers—as a matter of both state and federal constitutional law—can conduct a warrantless search of an automobile based solely on the existence of probable cause, which simply means there is a fair probability contraband or evidence of a crime will be found. State v. Bultron, 318 S.C. 323, 332, 457 S.E.2d 616, 621 (Ct. App. 1995); see Pennsylvania v. Labron, 518 U.S. 938, 940 (1996) (“If a car is readily mobile and probable cause exists to believe it contains contraband, the Fourth Amendment thus permits police to search the

vehicle without more.”); Weaver, 374 S.C. at 322, 649 S.E.2d at 483 (“Once the officers have probable cause to search a vehicle, the state constitution’s requirement that the invasion of one’s privacy be reasonable will be met.”); see also Kaley v. United States, 571 U.S. 320, 338 (2014) (recognizing the probable cause standard “is not a high bar”); Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983) (identifying probable cause as “a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found”). Critically, when probable cause exists for a vehicle search, the search can be extended to every part of the vehicle—and its contents—potentially containing the search’s object without the need for a search warrant. Bultron, 318 S.C. at 332, 457 S.E.2d at 621; see also Wyoming v. Houghton, 526 U.S. 295, 307 (1999) (“We hold that police officers with probable cause to search a car may inspect passengers’ belongings found in the car that are capable of concealing the object of the search.”); United States v. Ross, 456 U.S. 798, 825 (1982) (“If probable cause justifies the search of a lawfully stopped vehicle, it justifies the search of every part of the vehicle and its contents that may conceal the object of the search.”). And, that remains true regardless of whether the automobile has been impounded, temporarily immobilized, or otherwise taken into the custody and control of law enforcement at the time of the search. Florida v. Meyers, 466 U.S. 380, 382 (1984); see State v. Bonilla, 429 S.C. 253, 278, 838 S.E.2d 1, 14 (Ct. App. 2019) (“The justification to conduct such a warrantless search does not vanish once the car has been immobilized.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)); State v. Moore, 377 S.C. 299, 310, 659 S.E.2d 256, 262 (Ct. App. 2008) (“[I]f there is probable cause to search a vehicle at the time it is seized, this rationale does not disappear merely because the vehicle is taken into police custody or immobilized.”).

Meanwhile, the search-incident-to-arrest exception is another well-recognized exception permitting a warrantless search. United States v. Robinson, 414 U.S. 218, 235 (1973). Pursuant

to the search-incident-to-arrest exception, “[p]olice officers may make a search of an arrestee’s person and the area within his immediate control for weapons and destructible evidence without first obtaining a search warrant.” State v. Ferrell, 274 S.C. 401, 405, 266 S.E.2d 869, 871 (1980); see State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 132, 620 S.E.2d 737, 740 (2005) (noting the historical rationales for the “search incident to arrest” exception are the need to disarm a suspect in order to take him into custody and the need to preserve evidence for later use at trial). And, when the arrestee was an occupant of a vehicle, the search-incident-to-arrest exception historically permitted officers to search the passenger compartment of the automobile from which the arrestee was removed. See Thornton v. United States, 541 U.S. 615, 622-623 (2004) (“The need for a clear rule, readily understood by police officers and not depending on differing estimates of what items were or were not within reach of an arrestee at any particular moment, justifies the sort of generalization which Belton enunciated. Once an officer determines that there is probable cause to make an arrest, it is reasonable to allow officers to ensure their safety and to preserve evidence by searching the entire passenger compartment.” (footnotes omitted)); New York v. Belton, 453 U.S. 454, 460 (1981) (“[W]e hold that when a policeman has made a lawful custodial arrest of the occupant of an automobile, he may, as a contemporaneous incident of that arrest, search the passenger compartment of that automobile.” (footnotes omitted)). However, under more-recent precedent, a search of an automobile is constitutionally permissible pursuant to the search-incident-to-arrest exception “only if the arrestee is within reaching distance of the passenger compartment at the time of the search *or* it is reasonable to believe the vehicle contains evidence of the offense of arrest.” Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 351 (2009) (emphasis added); see Ramos v. Louisiana, 590 U.S. 83, 108 (2020) (recognizing it “changed the law for searches incident to arrests” through the Gant decision); Brown, 401 S.C. at 90, 736

S.E.2d at 267 (explaining “the Supreme Court departed from twenty-eight years of precedent and altered the rule it had announced in Belton” through its decision in Gant).

In the case sub judice, the trial judge properly declined to suppress the methamphetamine discovered through the warrantless search of Appellant’s rental vehicle because that search was entirely constitutionally reasonable under the circumstances involved. Significantly, that is true because the vehicle search that occurred in Appellant’s case was justified at various points by multiple exceptions to the warrant requirement.

Initially, prior to initiating the stop of Appellant’s vehicle, the officers possessed probable cause to believe Appellant’s rental vehicle contained both guns *and* drugs based on the information they had received and had been able to corroborate up to that point. Specifically, before initiating the stop, Victim—during a non-anonymous, face-to-face encounter—provided detailed information to law enforcement about Appellant, Appellant’s actions that day, and the rental vehicle Appellant was driving at the time. See State v. Driggers, 322 S.C. 506, 511, 473 S.E.2d 57, 60 (Ct. App. 1996) (“[A] non-confidential informant should be given higher level of credibility because he exposes himself to public view and to possible criminal and civil liability should the information he supplied prove to be false.”); cf. Pope, 410 S.C. at 225, 763 S.E.2d at 820 (“Harris was not a confidential informant and exposed himself to criminal liability should the information he supplied to officers prove to be false.”). In addition to that, Victim—relying on her own personal knowledge—informed law enforcement the vehicle contained both guns and drugs. See State v. Robinson, 415 S.C. 600, 605, 785 S.E.2d 355, 357 (2016) (explaining the veracity and basis of knowledge of a person supplying information are considerations in determining whether probable cause exists); cf. Driggers, 322 S.C. at 511, 473 S.E.2d at 60 (“Klepp–Egge’s detailed statement regarding his first-hand observations provides him with built

in credibility.’ ” (citation omitted)). And, assuming that information was not sufficient standing alone to be credited by the officers such that they had a probable cause basis to believe drugs and other contraband would be present inside the rental vehicle, Lieutenant Stewart was able to corroborate many of the details of the provided information before conducting any searches by tracking Appellant down inside the rental vehicle, which matched the description provided by Victim, and confirming from Appellant himself there was a weapon inside it. See Alabama v. White, 496 U.S. 325, 331 (1990) (“[B]ecause an informant is shown to be right about some things, he is probably right about other facts that he has alleged, including the claim that the object of the tip is engaged in criminal activity.”); Gates, 462 U.S. at 244-245 (“It is enough, for purposes of assessing probable cause, that corroboration through other sources of information reduced the chances of a reckless or prevaricating tale, thus providing a substantial basis for crediting the hearsay.” (citation and internal quotations omitted)); see also Florida v. Harris, 568 U.S. 237, 243-244 (2013) (“A police officer has probable cause to conduct a search when the facts available to him would warrant a person of reasonable caution in the belief that contraband or evidence of a crime is present. . . . All we have required is the kind of fair probability on which reasonable and prudent people, not legal technicians, act.” (citations, brackets, and internal quotations omitted)); United States v. Ortiz, 669 F.3d 439, 446 (4th Cir. 2012) (explaining the probable cause standard “is not particularly demanding, and the evidence need not provide the officers with an air-tight case, nor even a case satisfying the preponderance standard”); cf. State v. Goodman, 401 So. 3d 761, 764 (La. Ct. App. 2024) (concluding an officer had probable cause to search a vehicle pursuant to the automobile exception after the victim reported Goodman pointed a gun at her, Goodman’s vehicle was stopped as a result, and Goodman admitted to the officer there was a gun inside his vehicle during the stop).

Significantly, in light of that inherently-reliable information that was able to be at least partially corroborated in important respects, the officers had a probable cause basis to believe Appellant’s rental vehicle contained drugs, and, thus, the officers could—pursuant to the automobile exception—validly search anywhere inside the vehicle where drugs might be found, which included the vehicle’s sunglasses holder. See Carroll, 267 U.S. at 149 (“On reason and authority the true rule is that if the search and seizure without a warrant are made upon probable cause, that is, upon a belief, reasonably arising out of circumstances known to the seizing officer, that an automobile or other vehicle contains that which by law is subject to seizure and destruction, the search and seizure are valid. The Fourth Amendment is to be construed in the light of what was deemed an unreasonable search and seizure when it was adopted, and in a manner which will conserve public interests as well as the interests and rights of individual citizens.”); Weaver, 374 S.C. at 320, 649 S.E.2d at 482 (“If a vehicle is readily mobile and probable cause exists to believe it contains contraband, the Fourth Amendment permits police to search the vehicle without more.”); see also Gates, 462 U.S. at 241 (“Our decisions applying the totality-of-the-circumstances analysis . . . have consistently recognized the value of corroboration of details of an informant’s tip by independent police work.”). Therefore, the search that led to the discovery of the hidden methamphetamine was entirely reasonable and constitutionally proper,¹² and, as a result, the trial judge—regardless of the grounds he articulated when denying

¹² Moreover, to the extent defense counsel appeared to suggest during trial Appellant’s removal from the scene somehow triggered a need for a search warrant, the automobile exception—as previously noted—remained applicable regardless of whether Appellant was personally capable of removing the vehicle from the scene at the time of the search. Bonilla, 429 S.C. at 278, 838 S.E.2d at 14; see Michigan v. Thomas, 458 U.S. 259, 261 (1982) (“[T]he justification to conduct such a warrantless search does not vanish once the car has been immobilized; nor does it depend upon a reviewing court’s assessment of the likelihood in each particular case that the car would have been driven away, or that its contents would have been tampered with, during the period required for the police to obtain a warrant.”); Texas v. White, 423 U.S. 67, 68 (1975)

defense counsel’s suppression motion—acted correctly by declining to suppress the methamphetamine that was found hidden inside the rental vehicle. See State v. Goodstein, 278 S.C. 125, 128, 292 S.E.2d 791, 793 (1982) (explaining an appellate court “is not, as a general rule, bound by the reasoning adopted below if the record discloses a correct result” and instructing: “No principle in the disposition of appeals is more firmly established than that a right decision upon a wrong ground will be affirmed.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)).

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